IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PHILLUP ALAN PARTIN, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : .

Case No. SC08-2348

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P.O. Box 9000-PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of 58 volumes: the 56volume original record on appeal and two supplemental volumes. Citations in this brief to the record on appeal will be by volume and page number, with the supplemental volumes being indicated by "Supp."

Appellant, Phillup Alan Partin, will be referred to by name, or as "Appellant."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 17, 2003, a Pasco County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Phillup Alan Partin, for the first-degree murder of Joshan Marie Ashbrook. (Vol. 1, pp. 9-14) The indictment alleged that on or between July 31 and August 1, 2002, Appellant inflicted "blunt head and neck trauma" to Ashbrook, as a result of which she died. (Vol. 1, p. 9)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial on October 1-5 and 9, 2007, with the Honorable William R. Webb presiding. (Vol. 49, p. 1-Vol. 56, p. 1575) The trial ended in a mistrial due to a discovery violation. (Vol. 56, pp. 1501-1560)

Appellant's new trial was held on March 10-14 and 17-18, 2008, with Judge Webb again presiding. (Vol. 39, p. 1-Vol. 48, p. 1894)

Appellant's jury was instructed on first-degree murder under theories of both premeditation and felony-murder, with aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony. (Vol. 48, pp. 1824-1827)

On March 18, 2008, Appellant's jury found him guilty of first-degree murder as charged in the indictment. (Vol. 18, p. 3030; Vol. 48, p. 1873) The verdict did not specify upon which theory it was based.

Penalty phase was held on March 19, 2008. (Vol. 26, pp. 4255-4372) After receiving evidence from the State and the

defense, the jury returned a recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to death, by a vote of 9-3. (Vol. 17, p. 2890; Vol. 26, p. 4356)

Phillup Partin appeared with counsel before the court again on August 29, 2008. (Vol. 26, pp. 4374-4413) At that hearing, the court received testimony from Partin's daughter, Patrisha, as part of the Spencer¹ hearing. (Vol. 26, pp. 4405-4410)

The main <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on November 3, 2008. (Vol. 27, pp. 4414-4570)

Sentencing was held on December 1, 2008. (Vol. 27, pp. 4571-4592) In his sentencing order, which he read into the record, Judge Webb found two aggravating circumstances, both of which he accorded "great weight": the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel and the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use of violence to the person. (Vol. 21, pp. 3551-3552, 3555; Vol. 27, pp. 4575-4579, 4586) The court discussed the following mitigating circumstances, all of which he gave "little weight" or "some weight" (Vol. 21, pp. 3552-3555; Vol. 27, pp. 4579-4588): (1) Phillup Partin has the ability to be productive and be a positive influence on others while in prison. (2) Phillup Partin is a good father and a good provider. (3) Phillup Partin

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993)

is a good friend, a good boyfriend, and a compassionate person. (4) Phillup Partin has maintained steady and consistent employment throughout the non-incarcerated periods. (Employment Record.) (5) Phillup Partin has diminished mental capacity, mental disorders, and brain abnormalities. (6) Phillup Partin's upbringing and childhood constitute a mitigating circumstance. (7) The non-unanimous verdict recommending the imposition of the death penalty is a mitigating circumstance.²

Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court on December 1, 2008. (Vol. 21, p. 3544)

The court's written sentencing order herein contains at least two factual errors: It gives the victim's age as 15 (Vol. 21, p. 3551), when her mother Tara Ramsdell, testified that she was 16. (Vol. 41, p. 509)1 And it gives the name of the medical examiner as Dr. Noel Parma (Vol. 21, pp. 3551-3552), whereas he is identified in the trial transcript as Dr. Noel Palma. (Vol. 44, p. 1036)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 1, 2002 between 4:15 and 4:30 a.m., Arthur White³ was driving on Shady Hills Road in Pasco County, taking his wife and granddaughter to Tampa Airport, when he observed a dark blue or black pickup truck parked off the side of the road, "basically backed up into the woods[.]" (Vol. 43, pp. 855-863, 865) The headlights were not on, White did not notice any interior lights on in the vehicle, and did not see anybody in the vehicle. (Vol. 43, pp. 862-863) White approximated the year of the vehicle as between '94 and '98. (Vol. 43, p. 860)

Later that morning, at around 9:20, Randal Tolle and Robert Kilian, employees of the Withalachoochee [sic] River Electric Company, discovered a body beside Shady Hills Road. (Vol. 40, pp. 331-336, 354-355) The young female was wearing a lightcolored shirt or sweater that was pulled all the way up to the top of her shoulder blades. (Vol. 40, p. 336, 355) There was no clothing on the lower half of her body. (Vol. 40, p. 336) Kilian touched the body to make sure that it was real, and checked her carotid artery and verified that she was dead. (Vol. 40, pp. 336, 355)

There were tire tracks leading up to the area, and Tolle believed that the person had been killed elsewhere, and dumped

³ Arthur White's testimony was presented to Appellant's jury via a video recording. (Vol. 43, p. 855)

there. (Vol. 40, pp. 337-340) The workers cordoned off the area with cones and ribbons to preserve the evidence. (Vol. 40, p. 337-338) They called their office to notify them of the dead body, and EMS and sheriff's deputies responded to the area. (Vol. 40, pp. 336, 339-340)

On August 1, 2002, Jeff Bousquet was a detective with the major crimes unit of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office. (Vol. 40, p. 357) On that date, he responded to a wooded area off of Shady Hills Road in Pasco County, arriving on the scene at 10:20 a.m. (Vol. 40, p. 357) There he observed the body of a female lying face down about 50 feet to the east of the roadway. (Vol. 40, p. 358) She was wearing a white, striped tank top and black bra, but was nude from the waist down. (Vol. 40, pp. 358-359) She had on three necklaces, a ring on her right hand, and two pairs of earrings in her ears. (Vol. 40, p. 359) She had a large laceration under her neck, and what appeared to be defensive wounds on her hands, and there was blood. (Vol. 40, p. Bousquet observed what appeared to be ligature marks on 359) her wrists and ankles. (Vol. 40, p. 367-368) There was a hair imbedded in a defensive wound on the thumb area of the left hand of the deceased. (Vol. 40, pp. 362-364) She was pronounced dead at the scene. (Vol. 40, p. 359)

There were wide tire track impressions going in an eastwest direction leading up towards where the body was, and

smaller tire tracks off the side of the roadway going in a north-south direction, the same direction as Shady Hills Road. (Vol. 40, pp. 357-358, 360, 368-369) Forensic Investigator John Bateman of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office made casts of portions of the tire track impressions using "dense stone." (Vol. 41, pp. 447-454, 465-466)

There was a partial shoe print by the body. (Vol. 40, p. 369, 371, 374-375, 378) FI Bateman made a cast of this as well. (Vol. 41, pp. 454, 461)

The body and the area surrounding it appeared to be dry. (Vol. 40, pp. 371-372, 375-376)

Noel Palma, M.D., an associate medical examiner for the Sixth Circuit, went to the scene where the body was found, arriving about 11:30 a.m. (Vol. 44, p. 1039) The body appeared to be dry, was cold to the touch, and rigor mortis was fully developed. (Vol. 44, p. 1040) Palma estimated that Ashbrook had been dead for eight to 12 hours, although it could have been as much as 24 hours. (Vol. 44, pp. 1041, 1064-1065) Palma was unable to tell whether the victim was murdered there, or killed elsewhere and dumped. (Vol. 44, pp. 1042-1043) There was "a large gaping incised wound across the anterior neck region[,]" six incised wounds on the face, as well as "a ligature mark around the neck." (Vol. 44, p. 1043) There were also "linear contusions on the wrists and on the ankles" that were consistent

with ligature marks (Vol. 44, p. 1043) There were two incised wounds on the right forearm, and five incised wounds on the fingers of the left hand (which the witness characterized as defensive wounds), as well as abrasions and contusions on the forehead, an abrasion on the right side of the face, and an abrasion on the left back region. (Vol. 44, p. 1044) The incised wounds were most likely made by "some sort of a knife." (Vol. 44, p. 1045) Dr. Palma performed an autopsy on the body of Joshann Ashbrook on August 2, 2002. (Vol. 44, p. 1051) He determined that the cause of death was "blunt head and neck trauma" and the manner of death was homicide. (Vol. 44, pp. 1052, 1060) There was an "AO dislocation, atlanto-occipital dislocation" in which the head was moved forwards or backwards causing a "dislocation of the first cervical vertebra and the skull." (Vol. 44, pp. 1052-1053) All the injuries occurred before death, and the AO dislocation most likely occurred last. (Vol. 44, pp. 1053-1056) Ashbrook had a blood ethanol level of "0.02 grams per DL," which indicated that she had consumed alcohol before her death, and nicotine "was present in the gastric[,]" which was consistent with smoking cigarettes. (Vol. 44, pp. 1058-1059)

On August 2, 2002, Arthur White met with Detectives Lisa Mazza and James Browning of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, and pointed out to them where he had seen the pickup truck,

which was approximately eight to 10 feet from where the body was located. (Vol. 43, pp. 858, 879-883) White told the detectives that what caught his attention was that the wheels appeared shiny. (Vol. 43, p. 888) The area of Shady Hills Road in question was very dark at night, with no artificial lighting. (Vol. 43, pp. 881, 889)

Joshan Ashbrook was the girlfriend of Iris Mancero's son. (Vol. 41, pp. 477-478) Around 8:20 a.m. on July 31, 2002, Mancero received a telephone call from Ashbrook, who wanted to stop by to leave a note for Mancero's son, who was going away to Kentucky for school. (Vol. 41, pp, 478-479) Five or six minutes after the call, Ashbrook arrived in a new, burgundy, Ford F150 pickup truck. (Vol. 41, pp. 479-480) She stayed only a few minutes, then left in the truck. (Vol. 41, p. 480) Mancero did not see who was driving the pickup. (Vol. 41, pp. 480-481) The number of the phone from which Ashbrook called Mancero was (727) 534-9245. (Vol. 41, pp. 482-483, 485-486)

Detective Lisa Mazza determined that the registered owner of the telephone used by Ashbrook was Susan Salmon in North Carolina. (Vol. 41, pp. 485-486) When Mazza called the number on August 3, 2002, a male voice answered. (Vol. 41, p. 486) The male identified himself as Phillup Thompson, however, Mazza later determined that the voice belonged to Phillup Partin [Appellant]. (Vol. 41, pp. 486-488) Mazza asked him if he had

let someone use his telephone on July 31, 2002, and he said that he had. (Vol. 41, p. 487) Partin explained that he had been driving, and, when he was stopped at an intersection, a young girl had asked him for a ride, and he had agreed. (Vol. 41, p. The girl asked Partin to take her to her boyfriend's 488) residence a short distance away, but she had to call there first, and used Partin's phone to do so. (Vol. 41, p. 488) Partin drove her to the residence, and she went in, coming out a few moments later. (Vol. 41, p. 488) Partin then dropped the girl off at a Wal-Mart near the residence at approximately 9:00 a.m. (Vol. 41, p. 488) Partin told Mazza that he was driving a blue 1972 Chevy pickup truck. (Vol. 41, pp. 488-489) Mazza asked Partin where he was living so that she could go and meet with him, but he said that he was a transient who did not have an address. (Vol. 41, p. 489) Mazza asked him to come to the sheriff's office, but he was reluctant, he did not understand why this was necessary. (Vol. 41, p. 489) Mazza explained that the girl had been found dead, and they needed to speak to anybody who had seen her in the last 48 hours. (Vol. 41, p. 489) On August 6, 2002, Partin called Mazza. (Vol. 41, p. 490) He was very upset because officers had spoken to Susan Salmon in North Carolina, and he wanted to know why. (Vol. 41, p. 490) Mazza told Partin during that conversation that they had learned his real name through Susan Salmon. (Vol. 41, pp. 490-491)

Mazza explained again that was important for them to meet, because Partin was one of the last people to see the girl, but he refused, saying that he did not trust police. (Vol. 41, p. 491)

Appellant's jury viewed a recording from the video security system at Wal-Mart that was made on the morning of July 31, 2002 that showed three people exiting a maroon pickup in the parking lot, entering the store, and then leaving in the same truck. (Vol. 41, pp. 495-500) The truck pulled into the parking lot at 8:46 a.m., the people entered the store at 8:48 a.m., then exited the store at 8:54 a.m., and the truck left the parking lot at 8:55 a.m. (Vol. 41, pp. 502-504) Sharon Foshey of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office identified Phillup Partin as being depicted in a photograph made from the video recording system. (Vol. 41, pp. 504-505)

Tara Ramsdell, Joshan Ashbrook's mother, testified that her daughter was 16 years old at the time of her death. (Vol. 41, p. 509) Ramsdell last saw Joshan alive at about 2:30 in the morning on July 31, 2002, when Joshan left her home. (Vol. 41, pp. 510-511) Ramsdell reported her daughter as a runaway to the sheriff's department. (Vol. 41, p. 510) She recognized her daughter in one of the photographs made from the Wal-Mart video. (Vol. 41, p. 511)

Officers Ed Chambers of the "Florida Fishing and Wildlife Conservation" was patrolling the area of the Anclote Fishing Pier on July 31, 2002 when he issued a warning to Phillup Alan Partin at 10:45 a.m. for fishing without a license. (Vol. 41, pp. 512-514) Partin was driving a red pickup that may have had North Carolina tags. (Vol. 41, p. 515) There was a female and a small child with him. (Vol. 41, p. 515)

Susan Salmon had lived with Phillup Partin for about a year and a half, first in Fayetteville, and then in South Carolina. (Vol. 41, pp. 553-554, 571)⁴ On April 18, 2000, she purchased a maroon 1996 Ford 150 pickup truck for Partin to drive; Salmon had her own vehicle. (Vol. 41, pp. 554-555, 567-568; Vol. 44, pp. 1030-1032) Some time after April of 2000, Salmon had new tires put on the vehicle. (Vol. 41, pp. 555-556, 567)

Salmon and Partin split up in July, 2002. (Vol. 41, p. 558) Salmon returned to Massachusetts, and it was her understanding that Partin and his daughter, Trisha, were going to Florida to stay with Joe Fred Kaufman. (Vol. 41, p. 558) Salmon allowed Partin to keep the truck, which he was paying for, and use it while he was in Florida. (Vol. 41, p. 559)

Salmon received a phone call from Partin in August, 2002, in which he asked to use her ex-husband's social security

⁴ At Appellant's trial, Susan Salmon's videotaped depositions were played for the jury in lieu of her "live" testimony. (Vol. 41, pp. 548-549, 552)

number. (Vol. 41, p. 560) Partin would not say why he wanted it, and Salmon refused to give it to him. (Vol. 41, p. 560)

Salmon allowed Partin to use a cellphone of hers; Partin was paying the bill for it. (Vol. 41, pp. 561-562)

During a phone conversation some time after August 1, 2002, Partin told Salmon that the police were after him for killing a girl, but he said that he had nothing to do with the girl's death. (Vol. 41, pp. 562, 565) Partin told Salmon that he did not want to talk to the police because he did not trust the police. (Vol. 41, pp. 565-566)

In July, 2002, Diana Kaufman⁵ and her husband, Fred, were living in a two-bedroom house in Port Richey. (Vol. 41, pp. 574-575) On July 18, 2002, Partin and his daughter arrived in a maroon Ford pickup at the Kaufmans' residence to stay in their spare bedroom. (Vol. 41, p. 580) The Kaufmans knew they were coming, and had cleaned the room prior to their arrival. (Vol. 41, p. 580) The room had a sliding glass door that gave access to the backyard. (Vol. 41, pp. 582-583)

In the early afternoon hours of July 31, 2002, Diana Kaufman walked by Partin's room and saw a female sitting on the foot of the bed playing video games. (Vol. 41, pp. 584-585) The girl had dark hair, but Kaufman did not see her face. (Vol. 41,

⁵ Mrs. Kaufman is referred to in some parts of the record on appeal as "Diana" and in other parts of the record as "Diane."

p. 585) The girl was wearing a light tank top, dark shorts, and light tennis shoes. (Vol. 41, p. 585) Kaufman saw Patrisha {Appellant's daughter] in the room, but did not see Sonny [Appellant]. (Vol. 41, pp. 585-586)

Diana Kaufman went to bed between 9:00 and 9:30 that night, but did not go to sleep. (Vol. 41, p. 587) At that time, Appellant's truck was parked at the Kaufmans' house. (Vol. 42, p. 620)

Fred Kaufman usually got up from sleeping between 10:00 and 10:30 p.m. to go to his job cleaning restaurants; he had to be at the first restaurant at 11:00. (Vol. 41, pp. 583, 587) When Kaufman left for work on July 31, 2002, Appellant's pickup truck was not in the Kaufmans' driveway. (Vol. 41, p. 588) Appellant arrived back at the Kaufman residence a few minutes before 1:00 a.m. (Vol. 41, pp. 588-589)

Diana Kaufman woke up some time after 8:00 the next morning to prepare for her 10:00 doctor's appointment. (Vol. 41, p. 592; Vol. 42, pp. 626-629) As she was getting ready to go out the door, Appellant came into the family room. (Vol. 41, p. 592) Kaufman told him that she "didn't appreciate the fact that he brought somebody into [her] home and didn't have the decency to at least bring them out and introduce them to [her] and [her] husband." (Vol. 41, p. 592) Appellant responded, "[W]ell, she was weird and she didn't want to meet anybody." (Vol. 41, p.

592) Appellant's demeanor was not any different than at other times. (Vol. 41, p. 593)

The following Monday, Appellant left the Kaufman house never to return. (Vol. 41, pp. 595-596) Patrisha stayed for approximately one more week, then she too left and did not return. (Vol. 41, pp. 596-597) The furniture that Appellant had brought with him stayed in the room he had been occupying. (Vol. 41, pp. 581, 597)

On August 13, 2002, personnel from the Pasco County Sheriff's Office went to the Kaufman residence. They recovered a box full of hair cuttings from the northwest bedroom, as well as a disposable camera. (Vol. 41, pp. 519-521, 529) Adrean Noss of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement developed the negatives from the camera. (Vol. 41, p. 534)

Weeks later, Kaufman's daughter, Lacey Park, and her husband and two children moved into that spare bedroom. (Vol. 41, pp. 575, 597-598; Vol. 42, pp. 646-647)

At some point after moving into the spare bedroom of her parents' home in August, 2002, Lacey Park discovered "a big bleach stain and a beach towel and all kinds of stuff under the big Oriental rug" that was in the room. (Vol. 42, pp. 649-656) She told her parents, and the police were called immediately. (Vol. 42, pp. 650, 655)

On October 18, 2002, Forensic Investigator Susan Miller of Pasco County Sheriff's Office went to the the Kaufmans' residence with Investigator Bateman; Detective Gattuso was there as well. (Vol. 42, pp. 657-658) Miller was brought into the northwest bedroom to look at the area between the two twin beds. (Vol. 42, p. 658) There was an Oriental rug there, with a beach towel underneath. (Vol. 42, pp. 658-659, 675, 679-680) When she lifted up the beach towel, Miller found an area of discoloration on the carpeting. (Vol. 42, pp. 659-661, 675-676, 680) She conducted a phenolphthalein test on the discolored area, and it was presumptively positive for the presence of blood. (Vol. 42, pp. 661-662, 675-676) Miller also observed small spots of possible blood on the east wall and the north wall; these spots tested presumptively positive for the presence of blood. (Vol. 42, pp. 664-670)

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