IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PHILLUP ALAN PARTIN

Appellant,

11550110

v.

CASE NO. SC08-2348
Lower Tribunal No. 03-03888 CFAWS
Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,

IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 69116
katherine.diamandis@myfloridalegal.com

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

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

also proudly exclaims how the police "fucking patted me on the back, no shit, man," and concludes with him stating he does not "give a fuck about the goddamn cops." (V45/1259-60). The facts himself and indicate Partin concealed avoided making statement, all in his quest to avoid detection and eventual arrest. As such, the statements Partin made were quite relevant to Partin's consciousness of guilt. See Straight, 397 So. 2d at 908 (when a suspected person in any manner attempts to escape or evade а threatened prosecution by flight, concealment, resistance to lawful arrest, or other indications after the fact of a desire to evade prosecution, such fact is admissible, being relevant to the consciousness of guilt which may be inferred from such circumstance). The trial court did not err.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE FORMER TRIAL TESTIMONY OF SUZANNA ULERY. (Restated by Appellee).

Ulery, a former Florida Department of Suzanna Law Enforcement analyst, previously testified in Partin's 2007 trial. (V54/1030-45). Ulery was subject to cross-examination. (V54/1037-42, 1044-45). At the time of Partin's 2008 retrial, Ulery was residing in San Diego, California, was pregnant and unable to fly. Ulery contacted the prosecutor informing him she was not available to testify, that it would be a hazard to her health to fly and provided supporting documentation from her physician. (V26/4215-16, 4223-24; V33/5627-30). The State filed a Motion to Admit Former Testimony. (V14/2389-91). After a hearing on the motion, the trial court made the following findings: (1) Partin is the same party in both the retrial, as well as the 2007 trial, (2) the issue is identical in both instances, (3) Ulery appeared voluntarily as an expert witness at the previous trial and the evidence confirms that intended to appear at this retrial, but for her medical impediment, (4) Ulery is unavailable, and (5) the defense had the opportunity to cross-examine her at the prior trial. (V26/4246-47). An order granting the State's motion was entered and stated, "the State shall be permitted to read Suzanna

Ulery's former testimony to the jury at trial." (V14/2419).

that Ulery's testimony was Partin arques improperly admitted hearsay which violated his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation, that the inability to fly due to pregnancy did not constitute unavailability and that the State did not show it exercised "due diligence" in trying to secure the appearance of Ulery. Initial Brief at pp. 62-63. The trial court's decision to admit Ulery's former testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Muehleman v. State, 3 So. 3d 1149, 1162 (Fla. 2009). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000).

Former testimony is a "firmly rooted and reliable hearsay exception." Geralds v. State, 2010 WL 3582955, at *19 (Fla. Sept. 16, 2010). Florida Statutes Section 90.804(2) provides:

Hearsay exceptions.--The following are not excluded under s. 90.802, provided that the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

(a) Former testimony.--Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the

testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

Ulery's testimony was properly admitted as a hearsay exception under Fla. Stat. § 90.804(2)(a) Ulery testified at Partin's 2007 trial and Partin had the opportunity to crossexamine Ulery. As such, her testimony was properly admitted. See Murray v. State, 3 So. 3d 1108, 1123-24 (Fla. 2009) (former trial testimony properly admitted where testimony was taken in course of judicial proceeding, party now was party in former proceeding, issues are similar, a substantial reason is shown why witness is not available, and witness was subject to crossexamination); Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1366, 1368 (Fla. 1995) (during retrial transcript of testimony admissible where witness incarcerated in another state and defendant had the opportunity to rebut testimony during first trial); see also Muehleman, 3 So. 3d at 1162-64 (former testimony properly admitted where testimony was from prior judicial proceeding, on the same issues, subject to cross-examination, and the unavailability of the witnesses was established). Ulery was clearly unavailable as she was not able to attend the trial due her pregnancy. Fla. Stat. § 90.804(1)(d) (witness is unavailable if the witness "[i]s unable to be present or to testify at the hearing because of death or because of a then-existing physical or mental

illness or infirmity."); see also Happ v. Moore, 784 So. 2d 1091, 1101-02 (Fla. 2001) (witness who was not mentally and physically able to testify was unavailable).

Furthermore, as Ulery was unavailable and Partin previously opportunity to cross-examine her, Partin's Amendment right of confrontation was not violated. Muehleman, 3 So. 3d at 1162-64 (principles of Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) not violated where witness unavailable and was subject to cross-examination in previous judicial proceeding); see also Thompson v. State, 995 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008); Essex v. State, 958 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007). Partin's argument that the State was required to establish that it exercised "due diligence" in trying to secure the appearance of Ulery must fail. The due diligence showing Partin argues in favor of is required in cases where the proponent of an unavailable witness' testimony seeks to rely on the definition of unavailability wherein the witness is "absent from the hearing, and the proponent of a statement has been unable to procure the declarant's attendance or testimony by process or other reasonable means." Fla. Stat. § 90.804(1)(e); see Jackson v. State, 575 So. 2d 181, 187 (Fla. 1991); Essex, 958 So. 2d at 432. Ulery was not an errant, missing or absent witness. To the contrary, she contacted the State prior to

trial, and as the trial court found, voluntarily appeared at Partin's first trial. As Ulery's testimony was properly admitted as former testimony, Partin is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

Even if Ulery's testimony was erroneously admitted, any error was harmless. Ulery testified a carpet sample from Partin's room, which had tested positive for the presence of blood, matched Joshan's DNA profile and the probability of such a match would be 1 in 100 trillion Caucasians. (V43/911-12, 972). While this testimony placed Joshan's blood in Partin's room, it was simply cumulative to Brian Higgins' more extensive trial testimony which established blood from the east and west walls of Partin's room matched Joshan's DNA profile. (V43/908, 911-17). Regarding the east wall match, Higgins testified the frequency of such a profile is 1 in 100 trillion Caucasians. (V43/915). Regarding the north wall match, Higgins testified the frequency of such a profile is 1 in 64 billion Caucasians. (V43/917-18).

Ulery's testimony regarding the hair found in Joshan's left hand is likewise cumulative to Higgins' testimony and that of Shawn Weiss. Ulery compared Partin's DNA to the DNA profile Higgins obtained and found the samples matched at every location and the frequency of such occurrence is approximately 1 in 14

trillion Caucasians. (V43/973-74). Higgins testified the hair matched Partin's DNA profile at 7 of 13 STR loci, and the population genetic frequency of such a match is 1 in 23 million Caucasians. (V43/915, 925-27). Weiss also testified the results of her DNA testing established that the hair was consistent with Partin's DNA. (V43/991-93). As Ulery's testimony was cumulative to that of DNA analysts Wiggins and Weiss, any error in its admission must be deemed harmless. See Blanton v. State, 978 So. 2d 149, 156-57 (Fla. 2008) (hearsay testimony which violated defendant's Sixth Amendment right under Crawford harmless where testimony was cumulative); Rodgers v. State, 948 So. 2d 655, 665-666 (Fla. 2006) (same); see also Floyd v. State, 850 So. 2d 383, 400 (Fla. 2002) (any error in admitting hearsay statement harmless where testimony was cumulative). Partin is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT INFORMED THE JURY A COPY OF THE INDICTMENT WOULD NOT BE GIVEN OR READ TO THEM. (Restated by Appellee).

The trial court read the prospective jury venire the indictment. (V39/88-89). After the jury panel was sworn, the trial court proceeded with its preliminary instructions and properly instructed the jury that "[t]he [i]ndictment is not evidence and is not to be considered by you as any proof of guilt." (V40/239). Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 2.1.

After the jury began its deliberations, the jury asked the trial court for a copy or the indictment and later asked the trial court to read the indictment. The trial court informed the jury it was unable to comply with either request. (V48/1858, 1864-71). Partin argues the trial court abused its discretion in denying these requests. Initial Brief at p. 65.

It is within the trial court's discretion to permit a copy of the indictment to be delivered to the jury. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400(a) (court may permit the jury to take a copy of the charges against the defendant to the jury room). "A trial court has discretion in instructing the jury during deliberations, and an appellate court will disturb a trial court ruling only where the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful or

unreasonable." McGirth v. State, 2010 WL 4483506, at *7 (Fla. Nov. 10, 2010) (internal quotations and citations omitted). Indeed, in Donaldson v. State, 356 So. 2d 351, 352-53 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) the court found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's request that the jury be permitted to take the indictment to the jury room as Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.400 is permissive not mandatory. Likewise, it would be within the trial court's discretion to read a copy of the indictment to the jury. See generally Fla. R Crim. P. 3.410 (within trial court's discretion to read additional instructions or testimony to jury).

While Partin appears to acknowledge it was within the trial court's discretion not to comply with the jury's requests, he attempts to distinguish <u>Donaldson</u> as it was the jury that requested a copy of the indictment. This is a distinction without a difference as Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.410(a) applies generally to which materials may be permitted into the jury room without regard to whom requested the materials. Partin then speculates regarding the jury's requests and asserts their "concerns" were not put to "rest" and such amounted to an abuse of discretion. Initial Brief at p. 65. However, "[r]eversible error cannot be predicated upon conjecture." Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla.

1974). In <u>Ford v. Wainwright</u>, 451 So. 2d 471, 473-75 (Fla. 1984), this Court applied this principle and concluded that a defendant's assertion regarding the jurors' deliberations which was based upon conjecture could not form the basis for error. Here, the trial court clearly acted within its discretion and there was no error. Partin's speculation regarding the jurors' deliberations cannot form the basis for any relief.

Moreover, where Partin's jury was read the standard jury instructions and apprised of the essential and material elements of first-degree murder, the trial court's responses were harmless. (V48/1824-27). See generally Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 755 (Fla. 2001) (noting standard jury instructions are presumed to be correct). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN UTILIZING THE STANDARD PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF PARTIN'S TRIAL. (Restated by Appellee)

The decision on whether to give a particular jury instruction is within the trial court's discretion, and, absent "prejudicial error," such decisions should not be disturbed on appeal. Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613, 624 (Fla. 2001), citing Goldschmidt v. Holman, 571 So. 2d 422, 425 (Fla. 1990); see Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 159 (Fla. 1998) (holding trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's request for a special jury instruction).

Partin's penalty phase was conducted in March of 2008. (V26/4255-4372). Partin now relies on revisions to the standard jury instructions which were approved on October 29, 2009, more than a year after Partin's trial had ended. See In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases-Report No. 2005-2, 22 So. 3d 17 (Fla. 2009). Partin has failed to demonstrate how the trial court abused its discretion in relying on the standard jury instructions which had been upheld repeatedly by this Court and were in effect at the time of Partin's trial.

At the outset of jury instructions, the trial judge informed the jury that "it is your duty. . . to render to the court an advisory sentence based upon your determination as to

whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify the imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist." (V26/4340). This Court has repeatedly upheld the standard instructions used in this case.

See Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 262 (Fla. 2010), citing Johnson v. State, 969 So. 2d 938, 961-62 (Fla. 2007) (rejecting arguments that standard instructions unconstitutionally place burden of proof on defendant to prove death sentence is inappropriate and improperly restrict evidence that jury may consider in mitigation); Lebron v. State, 982 So. 2d 649, 666 (Fla. 2008) (noting this Court has repeatedly held that Florida's standard jury instructions do not violate Caldwell).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Partin's request for an alternative jury instruction. As to the defense-proposed "never required to recommend" language, Partin admits that the defense proposed instruction does not even conform to the newly-approved revised instruction. And, as to the State's initially proposed instruction on the "great weight" to the jury's advisory sentence, based on <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 937 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 2006) (V26/4329-4330; 48/1887-1890), the defense made a tactical decision to decline this instruction. (V26/4331-4333; V48/1888-1890). Therefore, it was withdrawn and

this jury instruction claim has been affirmatively waived by the defense and is procedurally barred on appeal.

Lastly, Partin alleges that one word of the transcribed oral instruction may - or may not - be an error in transcription and "may have to be resolved at the trial court level." Brief at 69-70. Partin admits there was no objection to the Therefore, any alleged jury instruction oral instructions. complaint, based on the oral instructions, is procedurally barred. Jury instructions "are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred." Garzon v. State, 980 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 2008) (quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991)). Furthermore, Partin has not asked to relinquish this matter to the trial court and, therefore, any claim based on an alleged inaccuracy in the transcript is procedurally barred. Lastly, this possible scrivener's error could not justify relief on appeal and even if there had been an isolated stumble in the oral instruction - on the use [of abuse, sic] of violence - any alleged error is procedurally barred, inconsequential and harmless. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE V

PARTIN'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE. (Restated by Appellee)

Partin next alleges that this case "is not one of the most aggravated and least mitigated" to come before this Court. Therefore, Partin argues that his death sentence should be vacated on proportionality grounds. Initial Brief at 71.

Legal Standards

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